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Q.1 In Section 4.2 of the RFP, item c, page 24, it states: One or more resource(s) may be proposed for 
each scope / sub-scope. A separate grid for each proposed resource must be completed and included in 
the technical proposal. 
 
Further, in item 1.2 of Attachment 1 to Part 4, page 28, it indicates Bidders must complete and submit 
with their proposal “the following grids (see below for the point-rated criteria)”. 
 
i) Could the Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat (TBS) please confirm that the grid with 
“Mandatory Project/Experience Information” in the header is the mandatory requirement grid for every 
resource for each Scope? 
 
ii) As the Rated requirements’ wording states “The Bidder”, could TBS please advise if the point rated 
criteria grids, starting on page 30 of the RFP, are the point-rated criteria for resource qualification? If 
not, please provide the grids that should be completed for each of the proposed resources. 
 
A.1 TBS wants to limit the number of pages a bidder has to provide information on the point-rated 
criteria. However, the Project/Experience Information would be required for all resources. So, to answer 
the question: 
 
i) Yes, for all proposed resources the Mandatory Project/Experience Information must be completed by 
the proposed bidder. 
 
ii) The point-rated grids are not to be completed for each individual resource. One point-rated grid is to 
be completed for all proposed resources. Bidders may use the collective experience of resources to 
satisfy the point-rated criteria. Evidence provided to meet the point-rated criteria must be associated 
with one or more of the resources proposed. 
 
Q.2 In Attachment 1 to Part 4 (page 28) there is information on how to describe the proposed resources, 
but no detail on what resources are required. We kindly request that detail be provided to bidders on 
the resources required, their required qualifications and how they will be scored for each Scope of 
Work. 
 
A.2 Resource requirements should be decided by the proposed bidder based on the respective tasks and 
deliverables section in the Statement of Work (page 66), and point-rated criteria in the Technical 
Evaluation Criteria (page 29). The number of resources may vary based on the expertise of each 
resource proposed. Resources will be evaluated, in aggregate, based on the point-rated criteria. The 
bidder should demonstrate how the proposed resource(s’) experience meets the point-rated criteria. 
 
Q.3 The RFP on page 52 states that “The maximum allocation of funds (total liability) for each of the 
scopes / sub-scopes are as follows: 
 
Scope 1, Digital Government Implementation: $350,000.00 (after applicable HST) 
Scope 2.1, Recruitment – Talent: $300,000.00 (after applicable HST) 
Scope 2.2, Recruitment – User Recruitment: $150,000.00 (after applicable HST) 
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Scope 3, Targeted Training: $125,000.00 for each sub-scope, or $375,000.00 in total (after applicable 
HST)” 
For Scope 1 it is anticipated that TBS will award 4 contracts. Is the allocation of funds per contract 
$350,000.00 or is it $87,500.00? 
How will the issuance of a task order be determined across 4 contracts for Scope 1? 
 
A.3 For all scopes and sub-scopes, the allocation of funds between contracts is flexible, but the total 
amount spent for all contracts within the scope cannot exceed the limit of expenditure. In the case of 
Scope 1, this means that the cumulative value of the four contracts in scope 1 cannot exceed 
$350,000.00. 
 
Q.4 Could TBS please confirm that the experience to be demonstrated and provided in response to the 
rated tables, starting on page 30 of the RFP, can be at the proposed resource level and not at the 
Bidder corporate level? For example, is it acceptable if the proposed resource X worked on a similar 
project/initiative that is not one of the Bidder’s corporate initiatives? 
 
A.4 Task authorizations would be issued based on the availability of resources, the needs of CDS at a 
given time, and other factors. As mentioned in the RFP blog, the Task-Authorization will provide specifics 
on level of effort for the bidder to complete the tasks and deliverables required by CDS at that time. 
 
Q.5 Would TBS accept a resource as part of a bid that previously worked directly with CDS and/or on 
related issues at TBS-CIOB prior to CDS’ launch, either as an employee (term or indeterminate) or as a 
contract/casual resource? 
 
A.5 Yes. 
 
Q.6 In Section 1.2 on Page 28, it states that the bidder should complete and submit with their proposal a 
mandatory project/experience information grid for each project required to demonstrate the proposed 
resource’s experience. Further, it states each proposed resource must have 3 client references. Are the 
3 client references for 3 different projects or can they be clients associated with the same project? 
 
A.6 References may be from different projects. However, no project may have less than two points of 
contact so CDS may contact the second, if they are unable to reach the first. 
 
Q.7 If multiple resources are proposed by a bidder for Scope 1, would TBS allow the different project 
experiences of these resources to be blended or alternated in responses to the sub-criteria in order to 
meet criteria 1.1 on page 30 and criteria 1.2 on page 31? 
 
A.7 Yes resources’ experience may be blended or alternated, but it should be clear which individual 
resource is associated to the specific sub-criteria, as well as their role(s)/responsibilities. 
 
Q.8 In the table “Scope 1: Digital Government Implementation”, 1.1 and 1.2 reference a “digital 
transformation initiative” and a “specific service”, respectively. In many cases the digital transformation 
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initiative revolves around redesigning a specific service. Can the Crown please clarify how it would like 
bidders to understand and distinguish between these two concepts? 
 
A.8 Evidence for qualification 1.1 may involve several individual services that were transformed, which 
collectively could form part of a broader organizational-wide transformation. Evaluation scoring for 1.1 
includes points for the creation or enablement of structural elements and the stakeholder engagement 
that facilitated the initiative. Qualification 1.2 focuses on an in-depth case study of the transformation of 
one service and includes evaluation scoring for the specific methods used. 
 
Q.9 Can you please confirm that bidders do not need to address each of the sub-scopes within 
“Scope 3: Targeted Training”, but can still be considered for training in one or more areas? 
 
A.9 Correct. Bidders can apply for one, or more of the sub-scopes in scope 3, targeted training. They 
only need to address the specific sub-scope(s) they apply for. 
 
Q.10 Referring to page 46 (Section 7.3 Security Requirements) of the RFP, can TBS please confirm that 
any resources proposed for Scope 1, at a minimum, only require a valid security clearance at the level of 
Reliability Status. 
 
A.10 Any resources proposed for Scope 1 must have, at a minimum, a valid security clearance at the 
level of Reliability Status. 
 
Q.11 We kindly request that you describe the expected audience for Scope 3. In particular: 
i. How many public officials will be trained for each Subscope? 
ii. Will the same group of public officials be trained across all 3 Subscopes, or will Subscopes 3.1, 3.2, and 
3.3 have different audiences? 
iii. How senior are the public officials that will participate in the training? 

a. Will the officials’ level of seniority differ between Subscopes 3.1, 3.2, and 3.3? If so, how? 
 
A.11 The number of public officials to be trained has not yet been determined. The technical authority 
will work with the Contractor at the point of task-authorization to determine the scope and nature of 
the training initiative. 
 
Audiences for training are expected to differ for the sub-scopes of scope 3. For sub-scope 3.1 and 3.2, 
the audience for training will focus on public servants at the operational levels who are either directly 
(e.g., developer roles) or indirectly (e.g., policy roles) involved in the design and delivery of public-facing 
services.  
 
The audience for sub-scope 3.3 would be government decision-makers, focussing on, but not limited to, 
senior executives (e.g., Chief Information Officers, Assistant Deputy Ministers, Deputy Ministers.) 
 
Q.12 Can TBS please elaborate on the type of web links or samples to be provided? 
 
A.12 Web links could include, but are not limited to: 
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• Links to the public-facing side of the service delivered (website, application, or other); 
• Links to open code repositories; 
• Links to personal Github accounts of proposed resources; 
• Links to open Kanban boards or other work management tools, etc. 
 
Q.13 Related to request for code repositories. For code repositories that are not open due to privacy, 
security, or proprietary concerns, proposed bidders should contact the Contracting Authority to make 
other arrangements." 
 
If bidders provide a web link to the services provided, what additional information is the TBS expecting 
to get by asking for the associated code repositories. Generally, code repositories are proprietary and 
there are security and privacy concerns around its release. 
a) can TBS please elaborate on the purpose of requesting the associated code repositories. 
b) can TBS please elaborate on what other arrangements are available. 
 
A.13  
 
a) Code repositories play an important role in assessing software development, deployment, and 
security practices. Further, open code repositories or contributions to open source (as individuals or 
organizations) can show a commitment to contributing back to the community. 
 
While working in the open is a core principle of CDS, we recognize that some bidders’ code repositories 
may contain proprietary or sensitive information. If this is the case, note the lack of a code repository in 
the bid submission, the reason for excluding the code repository, and who CDS can contact in order to 
make other arrangements for CDS to inspect the code repository if necessary. 
 
b) Other arrangements may include, but are not limited to: 
• A non-disclosure agreement signed by CDS and CDS resources to view the code repository in person or 
remotely. 
• Contacting a third-party to verify the development practices of the organization. 
• Interviews with proposed resources to discuss development practices, with evidence from other 
projects. 
 
While CDS will work with bidders to find a mutually agreeable arrangement, it is ultimately up to bidders 
to provide code repositories that can be assessed by CDS for the technical evaluation criteria.  
 
Q.14 On page 16 of the RFP, Section 3.2, Joint Venture Experience, clause ii. states “Where the Bidder is 
a joint venture with existing experience as that joint venture, it may submit the experience that it has 
obtained as that joint venture” and clause iii. states “A joint venture bidder may rely on the experience 
of one of its members to meet any given technical criterion of this bid solicitation”. 
 
Could the client please confirm that clause iii. is not subservient to clause ii. and that Joint Venture bids 
can rely on either the experience of Vendor A or Vendor B for any given criterion, even on initiatives 
where the joint venture had not previously existed? 



UNCLASSIFIED / NON CLASSIFIÉ 
 

 
A.14 Clause iii. is not subservient to clause ii. Joint Venture bids can in fact rely on either the experience 
of Vendor A or Vendor B for any given criterion, even on initiatives where the joint venture had not 
previously existed. 
 
It should be noted, however, that the RFP states the following under clause iii.: Example: A bidder is a 
joint venture consisting of members X, Y and Z. If a solicitation requires: (a) that the bidder have 3 years 
of experience providing maintenance service, and (b) that the bidder have 2 years of experience 
integrating hardware with complex networks, then each of these two requirements can be met by a 
different member of the joint venture. However, for a single criterion, such as the requirement for 3 
years of experience providing maintenance services, the bidder cannot indicate that each of members X, 
Y and Z has one year of experience, totaling 3 years. Such a response would be declared non-responsive. 
 
Q.15 Can the crown please confirm that we can use two different references for 1.1 and 1.2 under 
Scope 1: Digital Government Implementation? 
 
A.15 Bidders may provide separate client references for resource(s) proposed in any scope. CDS may 
follow up with the client references provided to verify the resource(s) demonstration of meeting the 
sub-criteria. 
 
Q.16 Could TBS please confirm, for Scope 1, that bidders can demonstrate experience by using Private 
sector initiatives as well as Public? 
 
A.16: Correct, the proposed bidder may use private sector initiatives as well as public. 
 
Q.17 FOLLOW UP TO Q.15: Thank you for your answer, however we are asking about corporate/project 
references, not resource references. Can TBS please confirm if we can use two separate 
corporate/project reference for 1.1 and 1.2? 
 
A.17 Proposed resources will have worked with a client, or corporation, to perform their duties on a 
project. If these are the references the bidder is referring to, the crown interprets them as “client 
references.” In this case, per the previous response, the bidder may provide separate client references 
for resource(s) proposed in any scope. 
 
Q.18 Is it acceptable to reference projects or case studies where the respondent was a subcontractor 
and not the prime contractor? 
 
A.18 Yes, so long as the evidence used to satisfy the sub-criteria were part of the roles and 
responsibilities of the sub-contractor, and the respondent is able to provide references to the client to 
CDS for verification of duties preformed and outcomes. 
 
Q.19 Will TBS consider extending the closing date to Oct 24, 2018 in order to confirm references and 
ability to share code repositories? 
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A.19 TBS will consider extensions based on a number of factors, however, an extension will not being 
issued at this time. 
 
Q.20       If security clearance is not required for section 3.1, is Annex C still required? If so, are we to fill 
out Annex C as everything is already pre-populated in the pdf provided? 
  
A.20       Annex C is still required. Please use the pre-populated PDF provided, and you will not need to 
obtain security clearance. 
 
Q.21       How many case studies is sufficient to include? 
 
A.21 For each evaluation qualification, “a case study” is interpreted as one case study.  
 
Q.22       We understood that the “Mandatory Project/Experience Information” table in Section 1.2 was 
to be included at the end of the project descriptions for Scope 1. Please confirm that is what you are 
expecting. 
 
A.22 Mandatory project/ experience information is a separate requirement from the evaluation 
qualifications, but may be included in the same document for evaluation purposes.  
  
Q.23       Further to the point above, is the table included in the 5 page limit (per project description)? 
We ask as the table alone is already a page in length. 
  
A.23       The table is not included in the five page limit. 
  
Q.24       For the training, is this for the development or delivery of training? 
  
A.24       Per the Statement of Work for Scope 3, bidders may be asked to complete the tasks and 
deliverables outlined on page 70, which includes developing and/or delivering targeting training. The 
Crown will work with bidders at the point of task-authorization to determine the specific tasks and 
deliverables to be completed, including additional task authorization information outlined in Annex E. 
  
Q.25       Will travel be required for the training? Is it safe to assume all training work will be conducted 
in Ottawa or NCR? 
  
A.25       Travel may be required for training, however, it should not be included in per diem rates (See 
section 7.7.5, and point 3 in Annex D, "Task Authorization Form"). Travel requirements will be outlined 
during the issuance of task-authorizations. Training may be conducted outside of the national capital 
region. 
  
Q.26       Licensing – will Canada be reproducing and modifying the background material that may be 
brought into the training? Will the vendor be paid an additional fee for this? 
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A.26       The Crown may be modifying background intellectual property to fit the needs of a training 
audience, which would then be considered foreground intellectual property. Vendors will not be paid an 
additional fee for any sharing of foreground IP by the Crown, however they may apply for a licence to 
profit from the foreground IP’s use. (See section K3315C (2008-05-12) on page 12) 
  
Q.27       Will the material submitted in the bid be shared (i.e. for the targeted training) with other 
vendors? 
  
A.27       No, material submitted in the bid will not be shared with other vendors. 
  
Q.28       For the targeted training, should the sample of previous training material be submitted as 
separate documents (i.e. ppt) in the technical bid e-mail? If the file is too large, is a link to a shared 
space acceptable? 
  
A.28       Yes, the sample of previous training material should be submitted by email. If the file is too 
large, a link to a shared space is acceptable. 
  
Q.29       For Scope 3, specifically 3.1 V, are we to focus all three areas (interaction, visual design, and 
data visualization) for rapid prototyping?  The way it could read is only focus on data visualization as it 
relates to rapid prototyping.  
  
A.29       Bidders may provide evidence for one or more of the areas (interaction design, visual design, or 
data visualization) as they relate to rapid prototyping.  
  
Q.30       As a follow up to Q10 - Do proposed resources need to have a valid security clearance at the 
level of Reliability Status at time of proposal submission? 
  
A.30       Proposed resources do not need to have a valid security clearance at the time of proposal 
submission. Resources will however need a valid security clearance before contract award.  
  
Q.31       Would TBS consider granting vendors an extension to allow further time to get approvals for 
clearances and the ability to share code repositories from clients? 
  
A.31       An extension until October 19 for bid submissions was confirmed on buyandsell on October 5. 
Further, bidders also have an extension until October 12 to submit questions. 
 
Q.32 Our firm is considering working with a European innovation/design consultancy on this bid, 
could you clarify if: 
 
This has to be done as a joint-venture (JV) or if we can simply work out an arrangement with them in the 
background so their resources are part of our team for the bid? 
There can be multiple rates within a category, for example in Category 1 can we propose a different rate 
for certain resources and/or by level of experience? Also, if it is a JV, can one firm have one set of rates 
and the other firm have another? 
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You can provide guidance on getting resources based outside of Canada through the new fingerprinting 
clearance process? 
 
A.32 (a) It is ultimately up to the Bidder to decide whether it is in their best interest, from a business 
perspective, to form a joint-venture (JV) with another company, or to subcontract with another 
company. The RFP further elaborates on the terms and conditions associated with JVs. 
 
(b) There should only be one set of firm all-inclusive rates per hour. Those rates should then be entered 
in the Pricing Schedule tables of Attachment 1 to Part 3 Pricing Schedule, for evaluation purposes. 
 
You should consult the following Government of Canada Contract Security Program website: 
https://www.tpsgc-pwgsc.gc.ca/esc-src/formulaires-forms/demande-empreintes-fingerprint-request-
eng.html 
 
On that page you will see direction on procedures and an info number to call for additional information. 
 
Q.33 What period of time does the quoted total contract budget of $1.175M cover? Is it for the entire 
duration of the contract i.e. until March 31, 2020? 
 
A.33 The total contract budget is for the entire duration of the contract, including any option periods 
 
Q.34 To re-confirm, can a given resource’s relevant experience as a sub-contractor engaged by a 
prime vendor be considered for this bid? 
 
A.34 Resource experience acquired as a sub-contractor can be used as evidence for the bid. Only 
tasks, deliverables, or roles that the sub-contractor was responsible for should be included.  
 
Q.35 Are all components of the bid kept strictly confidential and accessible only to the 
contracting/evaluation/decision-making team? For example can any component of the bid be accessed 
through an ATIP request? As well, what information about bids will be shared with other vendors as part 
of the communication/debrief process? 
 
A.35 The bids are kept confidential and will not be accessible through an ATIP request. 
 
Q.36 With respect to the required documentation for Scopes 3.1.1, 3.2.1 and 3.3.1, if a proposed 
resource has the required skills and experience, but cannot submit the training curriculum and 
supporting materials because they no longer have access to these proprietary tools of a previous 
employer, is TBS willing to accept an itemized list and brief descriptions of such materials?     
 
A.36 Yes, TBS will accept an itemized list and descriptions of the materials. Please note however, that 
this may limit the ability to validate evidence required for the sub-criteria (e.g., pedagogical approach, 
practical application, validity of materials, etc.)  
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Q.37 In lieu of the Thanksgiving weekend, would Treasury Board consider granting an extension to 15 
October? 
 
A.37 CDS has granted an extension until October 19th, 2018 for bid submissions. Further, bidders will 
have until October 12th to submit questions. Please follow out Twitter account and check on the 
buyandsell page for updates 
 
Q.38 RE: Page 9 of 90 – Section 2.6 Basis of Ownership of Intellectual Property 
 
Can you please provide concrete examples of what constitutes as background information? 
 
A.38 Background IP is any IP that is not generated/produced as a result of the execution of the 
contract itself.  
 
Q.39 RE: Page 11 of 90 – Section 2.6 Basis of Ownership of Intellectual Property 
 
It says all intellectual property rights belong to Canada and the Contractor will have no rights. If awarded 
the contract, would it be permissible to display some of the work in a portfolio (for user-centered 
design) or in case study format to show how we improved services for Canada? As part of thought 
leadership, would the contractors be able to present the work at any conferences etc. or talk about their 
experience of improving services? 
 
A.39 Contractors may request a licence to further profit from the use of the foreground intellectual 
property owned by the Crown, see K3305C (2008-05-12) on page 12. This could include displaying the 
work in a portfolio or presenting the work at conferences. 
 
Q.40 In the case of teaching materials, can the contractor use the materials to teach other workshops 
etc.? What if the user-centered design training material has been devised BEFORE this bid Canada, and 
most of it also correlates to training for Canada? 
 
A.40 Contractors may request a licence to further profit from the use of the foreground intellectual 
property owned by the Crown see K3305C (2008-05-12) on page 12. 
 
Q.41 RE: Page 14 – Section 3.2 Submission of Bid by Email 
 
Do the technical bid, financial bid, and certification have to be sent as separate pdf documents? 
 
A.41 Yes. 
 
Q.42 RE: Page 17, Section 3.3 ii. – Security Clearance 
 
It says bidders are required to submit security information with their bids or before the bid closing date.  
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During the open house, we heard that clearance would be conducted after if the contract was awarded. 
Can we get some assistance on this? Where is the security clearance application form? 
 
A.42 Per the second note on page 89:  
 
“It is understood that some bidders, particular those outside of Canada, may not have established 
Canadian government security clearances for their proposed resource(s). The Treasury Board of Canada 
Secretariat encourages all interested bidders to submit a bid in response to this Request for Proposal 
even if those security clearances have not yet been attained. It should be noted, however, that an 
ensuing contract will not be awarded until said clearance(s) is/are attained.”  
 
Q.43 RE: Page 24, Section 4.2 – Technical Evaluation b. Reference Checks, iii - Points will not be 
allocated and/or a bidder will not meet the mandatory experience requirement (as applicable) if (1) the 
reference customer states he or she is unable or unwilling to provide the information requested, or (2) 
the customer reference is not a customer of the Bidder itself. 
 
A few years ago, I worked at a digital agency (Trapeze). Their client was Shoppers Drug Mart, a project 
which I worked on. If that is included in the technical case study, would the reference be from Trapeze 
and the people who worked there? Or from Shoppers Drug Mart directly? In this case, the reference 
(neither Trapeze or Shoppers) is not a customer of the bidder (my current company through which I'm 
bidding). 
 
A.43 The reference should be Shoppers Drug Mart, as they were the organization for which the work 
was conducted for. Please see section 3.3, iv, page 18 for more information. 
 
Q.44 RE: Page 30 – Attachment 1 to part 4 Technical Evaluation Criteria 
 
Scope 1 - Digital Government Implementation 
 
The Bidder has delivered a digital service transformation initiative that designed or redesigned and 
deployed a digital public-facing service(s). 
 
Does Saas (Software as a service) count? Can it be enterprise software if one plan or tier of it is public 
facing? 
 
A.44 SaaS may be submitted as a case study, however for sub-criteria 1.2 “users of the service” or 
reference to “users” is interpreted as end-users, rather than those administering the service.  
 
Q.45 RE: Page 52 – 7.8 Canada's total Liability – 7.8.1 i - Max allocation of funds 
 
Are the maximum allocation of funds for each scope or sub scoped for 1 year? Can you provide any 
insight as to the commitment level for the year (Ex: perhaps 4 months of combined total work etc.)? 
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A.45 The maximum allocation of funds for each scope or sub-scope is for the entire duration of the 
contract, until March 31, 2020. The level of commitment will vary based multiple factors, including but 
not limited to, the expertise of the bidder, the specific tasks or deliverables required by CDS, etc.  
 
Q.46 Are we as a small business still open to taking projects from other clients in the private sector 
(health, finance) or work alongside other startups without any conflict with Canada?  
 
A.46 You may engage in work with other private sector clients or startups as long as there is no real 
or perceived conflict-of-interest insofar as any contract(s) you are awarded as a result of this solicitation 
 
Q.47 Are we still able to deliver any training material to other clients in the corporate sector on 
human-centered design? 
 
A.47 Yes 
 
Q.48 RE: Page 59 – 7.21 Limitation of Liability, Point 2. First Party Liability: 
 
e. “The Contractor is also liable for any other direct damages to Canada caused by the 
Contractor's performance or failure to perform the Contract that relate to: 
direct costs to Canada associated with re-procuring the Work from another party if the Contract is 
terminated either in whole or in part for default, up to an aggregate maximum for this subparagraph (ii) 
of the greater of 0.75 times the total estimated cost (meaning the dollar amount shown on the first page 
of the Contract in the block titled "Total Estimated Cost" or shown on each call-up, purchase order or 
other document used to order goods or services under this instrument), or $1,000,000.00 (Canadian 
Dollars).” 
 
Is this covered under liability insurance? Or is the small business required to pay Canada if Canada tries 
re-procuring the work from another party? 
 
A.48 You will need to consult on that matter with any insurance provider you have. If the 
specifications under section e. of 7.21 Limitation of Liability, Point 2. First Party Liability are not covered 
under liability insurance, then the small business will be required to pay Canada if Canada has to 
terminate the contract with the small business either in whole or in part for default and they then have 
to re-procure the work from another party. 
 
Q.49 After this services agreement, does the small business bid on each individual piece of work (task 
authorization) depending on scope, etc.? 
 
A.49 No, bidders do not need to bid on task authorizations, they will be negotiated with CDS and the 
bidder.   
 
Q.50 You are asking for a resume of no more than 3 pages. My current resume is 26 pages. I have 
worked with 18 Government departments and 5 private sectors organizations in the 18 years of 
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experience I have. If I need to limit the resume to 3 pages, it will be more a list of job titles, and brief 
description of each job. Would this be sufficient? 
 
A.50 Bidders should include information relevant to the evaluation criteria starting on page 29. 
Please see section 3.3, iii, for more information on what should be contained in resumes.  
 
Q.51 On page 19, under the PRICING SCHEDULE FOR SUBMISSION OF RESOURCE TYPES, there are 
estimated level of effort numbers provided. Are these numbers sample numbers or the right number of 
hours you are looking for. And if it is just sample numbers. Then based on what criteria, should we 
estimate the number of hours required? 
 
A.51 The numbers on page 19 are sample numbers only. 
 
Q.52 Regarding training materials that are huge, can we post it on private link for you to download or 
you prefer to have it on a USB? 
 
A.52 The sample of previous training material should be submitted by email. If the file is too large a 
link to a shared space is acceptable.  
 
Q.53 I have extensive experience in Digital Transformation, Service design. And I also provide usability 
testing recruitment, testing, and training. Is it possible to apply multiple scopes for the same resouce? 
 
A.53 Yes, you may apply for one or more scopes or sub-scopes. Please see our blog here: 
https://digital.canada.ca/2018/08/31/rfp/  
 
Q.54 Are there separate budget allocations for reimbursing user research participants? 
 
A.54 Which party, CDS or the contractor, is responsible for reimbursing user research participants will 
be determined at the point of task authorization 
 
For tasks completed under scope 2.2 “User Recruitment” in the Statement of Work, Annex A. The 
contractor may be paid its costs reasonably and properly incurred in the performance of work for 
compensating user research or testing participants, up to the price ceiling identified in the task-
authorization.   

Rates shall include all appropriate duties and taxes. Rates for compensation shall be determined prior to 
the issuance of compensation by the contractor, including which party, CDS or the contractor are 
responsible for facilitating the compensation to the participant.  

_____________ Cost per participant (administered by CDS) 

_____________ Cost per participant (administered by contractor) 
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Q.55 Are there separate budget allocations for community partnerships for current or future 
recruitment of user research or testing participants? 
 
A.55 There is no separate budget for this task at this time.  
 
Q.56 Are we comfortable paying some participants (such as disabled individuals) more than others in 
order to secure their participation? 
 
A.56 Participant compensation figures will be identified at the point of task authorization or through 
work with the technical authority. Compensation amounts may vary between user groups, but must 
respect tri-council policy guidance on inappropriate incentives.  
 
Q.57 Are there existing tools used by CDS that can be leveraged by our team to recruit for 
participants and then communicate research opportunities to them? 
 
A.57 CDS will work with the bidder to identify the appropriate tools for recruitment and 
communication, however, it is ultimately up to the bidder to full-fill the tasks and deliverables identified 
in the specific scope or sub-scope. Please see annex A, section 6, on page 70 for the equipment and 
information CDS is responsible for.  
 
Q.58 What is the current structure of the user research team at CDS that our team would be 
collaborating with on establishing processes, workflows and key deliverables (e.g. reports, decks etc.)? 
 
A.58 Personnel involved in establishing a recruitment workflow, process, and key deliverables could 
include, but are not limited to: CDS researchers or Head of Research, CDS product managers or Head of 
Product, the technical authority and the contracting authority. More information on CDS structure will 
be provided at the contract award  
 
Q.59  On 3.5  Section III Certifications Attachment 1 to Part 3 Pricing Schedule (page 19) you state “ 
The inclusion of the estimated level of effort (in days) volumetric data has been provided purely for the 
information purposes to assist Bidders ……”  This paragraph is followed by a PRICING SCHEDULE FOR 
SUBMISSION OF RESOURCES TYPES which contains a table with headings of “Firm all-inclusive rate per 
hour, GST/HST extra (in Cdn $); Estimated level of effort (in hours). Later, on page 72, the ANNEX B 
BASIS OF PAYMENT states that the contractor will be paid all-inclusive fixed time rates based on a per 
diem rate, with GST/HST extra.  
 
The question is whether this bid is to be presented on a “per diem” or “per hourly” rate 
 
A.59 The bid is to be presented on a per diem rate.  
 
Q.60 Under 2.0 Technical Evaluation Criteria Scope 1: Digital Government Implementation on pages 
30 and 31 on both 1.1 and 1.2 under Scope, Complexity and Role the criteria of “Similarity of the 
initiative objective(s) to CDS’s mandate, with reference to user-centric design, agile development, 
openness, and diversity” is awarded up to 5 points. Further, on Scope 3: Targeted Training on pages 34, 
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36, and 37 under 3.1.2, 3.2.2, and 3.3.2  a criteria “similarity of the scope and mandate of the 
organization(s) for which the training was provided to CDS’s scope and mandate” is also awarded 5 
points. 
 
Given that the background material on page 65 states that “ (…the CDS is…) similar to other digital 
transformation units such as the United Kingdom’s Government Digital Services, The United States, 18F, 
and Ontario Digital Service….” Is one to assume that the only way to get 5 points for this criteria is to 
have worked at or provided services for one of those organizations or similar ones in other countries or 
jurisdictions; or the provision of similar services (in scope, breath and depth) provided for a singular 
organization(s) qualify for maximum points as well? 
 
A.60  The specific point structure for each sub-criteria is confidential.  
 
Q.61  On Sub-scope 3.3 Digital Literacy for Decision Makers on page 36 the premise for the evaluation 
scoring is entirely based on materials that were produced in the past. While I am not questioning the 
need to prove that a bidder is capable of producing training materials at the appropriate level (and be 
able to provide evidence to that effect), I would like to suggest that we should be developing new 
curricula that really addresses the skills and information challenges government decision makers are 
facing, something I don’t believe exist. And if it does, its effectiveness has not been rigorously tested. I 
have an idea I would like to propose on how to accomplish this task and I would like to be scored on the 
quality and value of this idea. How would you accommodate a forward thinking statement, in contrast 
to a past material evaluation? 
 
A.61  For sub-scope 3.3, bidders will be evaluated on a sample of previous training material, per 
evaluation criteria 3.3.1 and 3.3.2.  
 
Q.62  As a follow up to Q10 - Do proposed resources need to have a valid security clearance at the 
level of Reliability Status at time of proposal submission?  
 
A.62  Please see response to Q30 
 
Q.63  We will be sharing a framework that is internally created at the organization. It is our 
understanding that the Government will not lay claim to IP ownership of our framework should we 
share it with the CDS team. What can be claimed ownership are any outputs of applying the framework, 
as part of the workshop. Kindly confirm. 
 
A.63  Correct, frameworks already developed would constitute background IP. The Government will 
not lay claim to IP ownership of any material submitted in support of a bidder’s application.  However IP 
developed for the tasks and deliverables will be retained by the Crown. 
 
Q.64  I am a single member LLC, and my partner technically subcontracts for the organization. Would 
you need us both to complete a security review and application? Or would my doing it suffice? 
 
A.64 Both the organization and the proposed resources must hold a valid security clearance for each 
scope, per Annex C.  



UNCLASSIFIED / NON CLASSIFIÉ 
 

 
If the partner is being proposed to meet the evaluation criteria, then they would require a security 
clearance to conduct work. Please see responses 10, 20, 30, 32, and 42, for more information.  
 
Q.65  In completing the security review, it is not clear what "level" of security we would require to 
conduct training. Is this something you can advise us on? 
 
A.65  Please see section 7.3 “Security Requirements” for the applicable security requirements per 
scope.   
 
Q.66  Is there any template available that allows us to fill in the details requested in this RFP? Or are 
we to extract what we feel is pertinent to our submission? (not sure if this is what the inclusion of the 
Annexes suggests). 
 
A.66  There is no response template. Bidders may refer to PART 3 – BID PREPARATION INSTRUCTIONS 
on page 13 and the relevant sections identified therein for more information.  
 
Q.67  Our workshop is typically limited to 20 participants to ensure full participation and learning. Is 
this something we can stipulate through our proposal? 
 
A.67  Details pertaining to specific task authorizations will be stipulated at the time of issuance, based 
on TBS’s needs and requirements at the time. Bidders may however, note capacity limitations.  
 
Q.68  I was able to review the terms for travel, however, I didn't see a section on workshop expenses. 
Would printing and supplies be covered by this initiative, or are we expected to provide for all printing 
and supplies? 
 
A.68  Printing and supply costs will be incurred by the bidder. 
 
Q.69  In filling out the different forms included in the RFP - are you making available digital copies for 
us to fill out, or would you prefer we print and hand-write, then subsequently scanning that back in to 
send to you via email (for example, Annex D). 
 
A.69  Annex D will be completed by TBS and bidders that win an ensuing contract.   Unfortunately the 
GOC does not have any fillable pdf documents to accommodate this request.  
 
Q.70  May we make the assumption that any work samples, references, etc. will be held confidentially 
by your team? We work with large organizations where we have signed NDAs; it is imperative that what 
we share remains confidential and is not circulated. We also assume that none of our work samples will 
be shared with other vendors submitting. 
 
A.70  Yes, work samples and references submitted as part of a bidder’s application are confidential 
and will not be shared outside of the evaluation committee. Please also see response 35. 
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Q.71  Are insurance coverage values suggested in the RFP provided in Canadian Dollars?  
 
A.71  Yes, all figures listed in the RFP are in Canadian Dollars. 
 
Q.72  Does insurance coverage need to be submitted with the RFP, or will proof only be requested if 
we are awarded the contract? 
 
A.72 As per 7.20 Insurance Requirements Page 57 sub-paragraph 3 “The Contractor should forward 
to the Contracting Authority within ten (10) days after the date of award of the Contract a Certificate of 
Insurance evidencing the insurance coverage.” 
 
Q.73  Our organization is unable to provide the code repositories because they do not belong to our 
organization. Will the web link to the service be sufficient with a note indicating that we cannot provide 
the repository due to proprietary concerns? 

A.73  Please refer to answer 13 

 
 
 


